
 
 

Felton Fire Protection District Board of Directors 
AMENDED Regular Meeting Agenda 

Monday, June 2, 2025 
6:00 p.m. 

Agenda amended to include additional correspondence received. 

Location: Felton Fire Station Meeting Room, 131 Kirby St, Felton California 

Felton Fire Protection District will accommodate persons with disabilities.  Please phone the fire station at 
(831) 335-4422 and communicate your specific needs. Any person may comment on any agenda item and 

must be recognized by the Board Chair prior to comment.  

Call to Order 

Pledge of Allegiance 

Roll Call 

Consideration of Additions/Deletions to the Agenda 

Statements of Disqualification 

Consent Agenda 

1. Approval of the Special Meeting Minutes of April 19, 2025. 

2. Approval of the Minutes of May 5, 2025. 

3. Approval of the Special Meeting Minutes of May 12, 2025. 

4. Approval of the Special Meeting Minutes of May 19, 2025. 

5. Correspondence 
• Letter of Ben Lomond Fire Protection District Board Chair Lisa Hill dated May 9, 

2025. 
• Correspondence received from anonymous member of the public. 
• Correspondence of Dan Dawson dated May 17, 2025. 
• Correspondence of Joe Serrano, dated May 30, 2025. 

 
6. Approval of Claims Paid in the Month of May 2025. 

Public Comment/Oral Communications 



Any person may address the Board at this time on any matter not on this agenda within the subject 
matter jurisdiction of the Felton Fire Protection District.  The Board Chair may request that 
comments be limited to no more than three (3) minutes. Any matter that requires Board action will 
be referred to staff for a report and action at a subsequent meeting.  The Brown Act prohibits the 
board from taking action on any item not listed on the agenda.   

Director’s Reports 

Ad Hoc Committee Reports 

Chief’s Report 

7. Chief’s Report 

General Business                                 

8. Discussion/Action: Adoption of 2025-2026 Preliminary Budget. 

Recommendation: Adopt 2025-2026 Preliminary Budget and direct staff to transmit the 
adopted preliminary budget to the County Auditor-Controller on or before June 27, 2025, 
and publish notice of the 2025-2026 Final Budget Adoption Hearing (to be held in August 
2025) at least two weeks before the hearing in at least one newspaper of general circulation 
in the district pursuant to Government Code Section 6061.  
 

9. Discussion/Action: Consider Extending FFPD 2025 Membership in the California Special 
Districts Association (Crandell). 
Recommendation: Direct staff to enroll the Felton Fire Protection District as a member 
district of the California Special Districts Association for an amount not-to-exceed 
$3,456.00 on or before August 30, 2025. 
 

10. Discussion/Action: Consider Letter of Santa Cruz County Fire Agencies Insurance Group 
CAO Jessica Blushi Regarding Workers Compensation Coverage Provider Selections 
(Anderson). 

Recommendation: Select Workers Compensation Coverage Provider and direct the Board 
Alternate to attend the June 11th, 2025, meeting of the SCCFAIG and inform SCCFAIG of the 
District’s selected provider. 

11. Discussion/Action: Approval of Amendment to Agreement #24R0416 with the County of 
Santa Cruz Regarding Payroll and Accounts Payable Service Fee Increases. 
 
Recommendation: Approve amendment to Agreement #24R0416 with the County of Santa 
Cruz, increasing the rates for payroll and accounts payable services as outlined, and 
authorize the Chair to sign the amendment to the agreement. 
 

12. Discussion/Action: Consider Draft Temporary Staffing Proposal of Zayante Fire Chief Jeff 
Maxwell (Anderson/Schwanbeck). 

Recommendation: That the Board discuss the Temporary Staffing Proposal from the 
Zayante Fire Protection District and determine moving forward with the agreement or not. 



 

13. Discussion/Action: Review Job Description of District Secretary and Take Related Actions. 
 
Recommendation: Review existing job descriptions for District Administrative Staff, make 
any necessary revisions, determine posting deadlines and take related actions (Crandell). 
 

14. Discussion/Action: Consider Reinstatement of Chief Blum to the Position of Interim Fire 
Chief. 

Recommendation: Motion to reinstate Chief Blum to the position of Interim Fire Chief to 
maintain continuity and leadership and satisfy the legal requirements placed on the board 
to appoint a fire chief of record for the district (Crandell). 

Adjournment 



Felton Fire Protection District Board of Directors 
Special Meeting  

Minutes 
Saturday, April 19, 2025 

8:00 a.m. 

Location: Felton Fire Station Meeting Room, 131 Kirby St, Felton California 

Felton Fire Protection District will accommodate persons with disabilities.  Please phone the fire station at 
(831) 335-4422 and communicate your specific needs. Any person may comment on any agenda item and 

must be recognized by the Board Chair prior to comment.  

Call to Order-The meeting was called to order at 8:01 a.m. 

Roll Call-Directors Anderson, Conrad, Schwanbeck, Shults, and Chair Crandell were present. 

New Business 

1. Board Member/Ad Hoc Committee workshop

ACTION: Study session held; no action taken.

Adjournment-The meeting was adjourned at 9:15 a.m. 

Approved: Attest: 

_______________________________ ___________________________________ 

Chair Norm Crandell  Board Secretary Tess Fitzgerald 

ITEM 1



Felton Fire Protection District Board of Directors 
Regular Meeting Minutes 

Monday, May 5, 2025 
6:00 p.m. 

Location: Felton Fire Station Meeting Room, 131 Kirby St, Felton California 

Felton Fire Protection District will accommodate persons with disabilities.  Please phone the fire station at 
(831) 335-4422 and communicate your specific needs. Any person may comment on any agenda item and 

must be recognized by the Board Chair prior to comment.  

Call to Order-The meeting was called to order at 6:00 p.m. 

Pledge of Allegiance 

Roll Call-Directors Anderson, Conrad, Schwanbeck, Shults, and Chair Crandell were present. 

Consideration of Additions/Deletions to the Agenda 

Additional material submitted to Item 3:  

• Correspondence of Jesse Kathan, dated May 3, 2025
• Board memo from Director Schwanbeck regarding Letter to Squad/Auxiliary

Additional Material submitted to Ad Hoc Committee Reports: 

• Ad Hoc Strategic Planning Committee Report (Director Conrad)
• Ad Hoc Budget Committee Report

Statements of Disqualification-Chair Crandell stated he would not be voting on item number 10. 

Consent Agenda 

1. Approval of the Minutes of April 14, 2025.

2. Approval of Paid Vendor Claims for the Month of April 2025.

3. Correspondence
• Letter of Isaac Blum dated April 22, 2025.
• Letter to Squad and Auxiliary dated April 27, 2025.

Director asked to pull the CalCard payment from item 2. 

MOTION: Motion made by Director Schwanbeck, seconded by Director Conrad to approve 
the consent agenda. 

ITEM 2



 

ACTION: The motion passed by the following vote:  
AYES: Anderson, Conrad, Schwanbeck, Shults, and Chair Crandell 
NOES: None 

Public Comment/Oral Communications 

Any person may address the Board at this time on any matter not on this agenda within the subject 
matter jurisdiction of the Felton Fire Protection District.  The Board Chair may request that 
comments be limited to no more than three (3) minutes. Any matter that requires Board action will 
be referred to staff for a report and action at a subsequent meeting.  The Brown Act prohibits the 
board from taking action on any item not listed on the agenda.   

The following members of the public addressed the Board: Chris (last name not given); Judy 
Anderson. 

Director’s Reports 

Ad Hoc Committee Reports 

4. SOP Committee Report 
5. Strategic Planning Committee Report 
6. Budget Committee Report 

Chief’s Report 

7. Chief’s Report 

General Business                                 

8. Discussion/Action: Review of 2025-2026 Preliminary Budget. 

ACTION: The Board reviewed and discussed the 2025-2026 Preliminary Budget. Director 
Schwanbeck commented on sub objects in the preliminary budget and requested staff 
return with additional information relating to Regular Pay Permanent/Shared Services 
breakout; no action taken.  
 

9. Discussion/Action: Discuss Staffing Needs and Necessary Authorizations for Alcohol Sales 
at the Auxiliary’s Mother’s Day Pancake Breakfast event on Sunday, May 11, 2025, and Take 
Related Actions.  
 
The following members of the public addressed the Board: Judy Anderson. 
 
MOTION: Motion made by Director Schwanbeck, seconded by Director Anderson, to 
authorize the sale of alcohol by the Felton Fire Protection District’s Auxiliary at the FFD 
Auxiliary’s Mother’s Day Pancake Breakfast event on Sunday, May 11, 2025, and the use and 
number of District staff to run the event; with the further direction that future established 
events will be approved without board action with 30 days advance notice to staff, until 
otherwise modified by the Board of Directors. 
 
 

ITEM 2



ACTION: The motion passed by the following vote:  
AYES: Anderson, Conrad, Schwanbeck, Shults, and Chair Crandell 
NOES: None 

10. Discussion/Action: Discuss Staffing and Apparatus Needed to Fulfill Commitment to SLV
Bob Cat Club Silent Auction Winners and Take Related Actions.

MOTION: Motion made by Director Schwanbeck, seconded by Director Shults to authorize
the use of District staff and vehicles to fulfill the commitment to the SLV Bob Cat Silent
Auction winners.
ACTION: The motion passed by the following vote:
AYES: Anderson, Conrad, Schwanbeck, Shults, and Chair Crandell
NOES: None

11. Discussion/Action: Consider Establishing Protocols for Events Involving District
Assets/Personnel.

Director Shults indicated that the SLV Grad Night program requested two Felton Firefighters
to attend the event and requested use of the stuffed horse on District property.

ACTION: Discussion held; no action taken.

12. Discussion/Action: Consider Reimbursement Policy for Felton Fire Protection District
Volunteer Firefighter Emergency Medical Technician Training Coursework.

MOTION: Motion made by Director Anderson, seconded by Director Schwanbeck, to
reimburse up to six (6) current Felton Firefighters to attend the Emergency Medical
Technician course in July 2025, including the cost of coursework and materials.

ACTION: The motion passed by the following vote:
AYES: Anderson, Conrad, Schwanbeck, Shults
NOES: None
ABSTAIN: Chair Crandell

Adjournment-The meeting was adjourned at 7:50 p.m. 

Approved:  Attest: 

_______________________________ ____________________________________ 

Chair Norm Crandell  Board Secretary Tess Fitzgerald 

ITEM 2



Felton Fire Protection District Board of Directors
Special Meeting Agenda Minutes

(reading of letter received May, 9 2025, assignment to ad hoc committee)

 Time: Monday, May 12, 2025, 6PM

Location: Felton Fire Protection District, Training Room, 131 Kirby Street, Felton, 
CA. 

1.1 - Call to order 
   Meeting called to order by Director Crandell at 6:05pm

1.2 – Directors roll call 
   Directors present – Schwanbeck, Shults, Crandell, Anderson
   Directors absent – Conrad 

Staff   
Fire Chief - Ayers - present 
Board secretary – Fitzgerald – Absent
Guest – Isaac Blum (requested by Director Crandell to take minutes) - 
Present

ITEM 3



During roll call Director Crandell discussed with the Board his inability to 
access his assigned district email account due to an ongoing FOIA request 
and asked for a show of hands of who on the Board presently had access 
to their district email account.
Schwanbeck – full access, Crandell – limited access, Shults - limited 
access, Anderson – full access
Director Schwanbeck asked Director Crandell in what official capacity 
former Chief Blum was participating in the Board meeting. Director Crandell 
stated that Blum was only acting as member of the public and that was only 
there to assist in taking notes in the absence of the Board secterery .

2.0      – Additions to agenda
                None    

General Business

3.1       - Reading of letter from the Ben Lomond Fire Protection District, May 9, 
2025
                Letter read by guest Blum (Attachment 1)
                Action – none 
                Public commit - none
                

3.2       - Statement of chronological facts leading up to May 9, 2025 letter   
                (attachment 2)                                                                         

                             Statement of facts read by Director Crandell,
                             Action – none 
                             Public comment - none
                              
 

3.3       - Discussion of options for continued service
                 Handout read by Director Crandell (attachment 3)    

ITEM 3



                                                                                                                                           
- Director Anderson stated that he had spoken with Chief Wilson from 

CAL       Fire and that CAL Fire has offered support of an engine 
response upon 2nd page for Felton.

- Director Crandell stated that he hoped there would be a chance of 
working with the Zayantee Fire District on a limited response model, 
but at a minimum Felton would be required to answer its own 
nighttime calls.

- Director Schwanbeck asked Chief Ayers where the District training 
records were at and if they were current. Chief Ayers stated that they 
were in a Google Doc account on the computer

- Action - none

Public Comment
- Firefighter (FF) Berlanga addressed the board and stated his concern 

for the present firefighters capabilities in anything other routeen calls, 
FF Berlanga also stressed that presently the Fire District did not have 
any Captains, Battalion Chiefs, and limited or no Engineers. FF 
Berlanga also stated he felt that there was a lack of support and true 
understanding from the board on the condition and morale of the 
firefighters. FF Berlanga also discussed his concern for another 
contract for services.

- Derector Anderson addressed FF Berlanga’s comments and stated 
that he felt the same frustration bringing up the fact that it was not the 
Felton Fire Districts intent to exit the contract and that the Board is 
presently in the 30 day clause within the contract and attempting to 
correct some of the issues brought up by FF Berlanga. Director 
Anderson also brought up a lack of communication in the Fire Chiefs 
reports and a lack of opportunity for the FF to communicate with the 
Board.

- Director Schwanbeck addressed FF Berlanga and said she felt that 
the Squad had not been fully or appropriately heard.

- FF Berlanga again stated that he was frustrated, that things like this 
lead to a lack of morale, and is discouraged in the lack of information 
given, and that it was his duty to the district to speak up. 

- Director Crandell asked Chief Ayers the status of the EMT class and 
what if anything needed to be done. Chief Ayers replied that 
everything except the scheduling of the weekend skills sessions had 

ITEM 3



been done. Director Crandell asked that Chief Ayers complete that 
prior to June 9th.

- Chief Ayers spoke about a call that Felton was dispatched to but was 
ultimately taken care of by the Zayante Fire District. Chief Ayers stated 
that the Ben Lomond Fire District should have gotten the call to 
respond to Felton’s incident but that there was an issue with the 
dispatch center not notifying Ben Lomond. Chief Ayers noted that they 
are looking into the incident.

- Director Anderson asked Chief Ayers when he intended to conduct 
Engineer training, Chief Ayers stated that Driver Operator 1A would 
start in June and that Driver Operator 1B would start in July.

- Director Crandell asked Chief Ayers to conduct a head count to see if 
any of the firefighters intended to leave at the conclusion of the Ben 
Lomond contract.

- Director Crandell then spoke to the plan in the next 30 days to select 
the two most viable options for staffing.

- Director Crandell said he needed to contact District Secetary Dennis 
to what her intentions were and if she intended to stay or leave the 
District at the conclusion of the Ben Lomond contract. 

- Director Crandell stated that because of the poor access to district 
email that anyone who wished to contact the Board should still do it by 
email, but should also contact Chief Ayers to insure contact is made 
with the Board.

                  

ITEM 3



3.4         - Designation of Board members to form ad hoc committee to review all 
service 

   options and report back at the next meeting.
   Director Crandell spoke about creating an ad hoc committee to attend the
    Zayante Fire District Board meeting and explore staffing options.

- Director Schwanbeck stated that she could attend the meeting on the 
15th 

- Director Shults stated that he could attend both meetings if necessary
- Director Anderson stated that he could attend the meeting on the 14th 

but may have a conflict with the meeting on the 15th.
- Ad hoc committee was set and will attend the Zayante Fire District 

Board meetings,  Anderson 14th, Schwanbeck, Shults 15th

- Director Crandell spoke to the fact that he hopes to have some form of 
agreement for help from the Zayante Fire District.

- Chief Ayers stated that after June 9th that until Felton has duty 
coverage that he had spoken with the Zayante Fire District and that 
they would respond to incidents requiring a battalion Chief.

- Director Schwanbeck stated that she felt that one meeting a month 
was not going to be enough given the need for communication and the 
decisions that need to be made in the next 30 days.

- Director Crandell requested special meetings to be scheduled every 
Monday night for the next month.

- Director Crandell thanked the squad and Chief Ayers for their service 
and support.

- Director Anderson asked the squad to please reach out to the Board if 
you feel you need remedial training.

- Director Crandell asked Chief Ayers to please focus on the basic 
firefighter tasks for the remainder of the month. 

- Chief Ayers stated that the month was engine block training and that is 
exactly what they are focusing on.

- Action – Ad hoc committee was set and will attend the Zayante Fire 
District Board meetings, Anderson 14th, Schwanbeck, Shults 15th

            

                            Public Comment

ITEM 3



- Don Jarvis stated that the crisis Felton is facing is not new to the 
volunteer fire service and that since the inception of proposition 13 
that fire districts have been on a budgetary decline. That with an 
increase in call volume and a decreases in funding that the District 
needs to be honest with the community and acknolage that they are 
not providing the best service possible.  Mr. Jarvis went on to say that 
the district should consider a merger with either the Zayante Fire 
District or with the new CSA 48. Mr. Jarvis stated that the assed 
property tax could be applied to the Felton Fire District parcels and 
their by increasing the operating budget for the assuming district. 
Their-by increasing the projected services that the town of Felton 
could receive.

- Engineer Albers thanked the firefighters for their dedicated service and 
encouraged them to continue to respond. He spoke to their willingness 
to cover night shifts and to their commitment to train and continue to 
get better and run calls.

- FF Marcus? Palo asked the board if they intended to reinstate former 
Chief Blum as Fire Chief, or who is the new Fire Chief? Director 
Crandell stated that it was a possibility but that all of the conditions 
were so new that nothing had been formally discussed yet.

- FF Marcus asked what the financial impact was on the district now 
with the separation of the Ben Lomond contract? Director Crandell 
stated that initially there would be a reduction of costs paid out as we 
would no longer be paying Ben Lomond for their services.

- FF Marcus asked what is the plan for training moving forward? 
Director Crandell stated that there have been several people who 
have reached out offering their time and support if needed to continue 
training for the firefighters. 

- Director Crandell apologized to the public for not having all the 
answers but reiterated that this was a new development and that this 
was the first time the board had been able to meet and discuss this. 

- Director Schwanbeck thanked the public for bringing their questions.
- Director Crandell thanked the Squad for their service

4.0      - Adjournment
                Meeting Adjourned at 7:04PM 

ITEM 3



ITEM 3

Attachment 1



Attachment 2 

Statement of facts May 12th 2025 regarding contract for services between the Felton 
Fire Protection District and the Ben Lomond Fire Protection District. 

 

 

On November 1st 2024 Chief Brownlee assumed the duties of Fire Chief for the Felton Fire 
Protection District. Those duties were outlined in an agreement titled “Agreement For 
Temporary Services” and signed by the Felton and Ben Lomond Fire Boards. 
The terms and deliverable conditions of that contract were  

- Provision of Fire Chief 
- Provision of Training Chief 
- All terms in Exhibit A (scope of services) 

 
 
From November 1st 2024 through May 9th 2025 Chief Brownlee performed those duties. 
During that time Chief Brownlee brought no written or formal complaint of any kind to the 
attention of the Felton Fire Board. 
 
 
On April 16th Chief Brownlee requested a meeting with the Chair of the Felton Fire 
Protection District Norm Crandell. 
 
 
On April 17th both Director Crandell and Chief Brownlee met, at which time Chief Brownlee 
advised Director Crandell that she had conducted a Board meeting at the Ben Lomond Fire 
Protection District. 
Chief Brownlee advised that one of the outcomes of that meeting was an ultimatum that 
Assistant Chief Blum must leave the Felton Fire District or she was instructed by the Ben 
Lomond Fire Board to submit a 30-day notice of intent to exit the contract for services. 
 
 
On April 17th Director Crandell contacted Assistant Chief Blum to inform him of the 
ultimatum given by the Ben Lomond Board and Fire Chief Brownlee.    
 
 
 

ITEM 3



On April 20th After much consultation between Director Crandell and Assistant Chief Blum 
it was decided that Chief Blum would resign in lieu of having the Ben Lomond Fire District 
and Chief Brownlee exit the contract. That resignation took place on April 22nd.  
(It should be noted that at no time before or after the ultimatum to Director Crandell did Chief Brownlee make 
any complaints or charges against Assistant Chief Blum to the Felton Fire Board.) 
 
On May 9th Director Hill and Maxson of the Ben Lomond Fire Protection District asked to 
meet with Director Crandell. During the brief interaction the Ben Lomond Directors 
presented Director Crandell with a signed letter advising that the Ben Lomond Fire District 
intended to invoke article 6 (6.1) and exit the contract for services 30 days from the date the 
letter was received. 
The letter provided, explicitly stated that the Felton Fire Board should have no further 
contact with Chief Brownlee and that Assistant Chief Ayers would be assuming all duties 
for the remainder of the contract. 
 
On May 9th a special meeting was requested by Director Crandell and the meeting was 
scheduled for May 12th 
 
This takes us to this present point and concludes the statement of facts at this time.  
 

ITEM 3



Attachment 3 
 

Service options  

- Stipend shift work for volunteer firefighters 
- On call duty response for firefighters living in district 
- Contract for services – Private  
- Contract for services – municipal 
- Paid district staffing – (PERS)  
- Auto aid response – partial  
- Combination of any of the above 

 

Things to be accomplished in 30 days- District 

Select the two most viable options for staffing – Review – and assign resources to complete  

Select an operational district point of contact 

Identify if any district employees intend to leave at the conclusion of the Ben Lomond 
contract 

Identify if Felton has administrative assistance  

Identify any outstanding contracts or purchases made by Chief Brownlee that have not 
been fulfilled. Identify if such contract/purchase is still needed. 

Identify short comings operationally – address immediately 

Change all contact info, ensure communications with neighboring agencies in the county  

  

Things to accomplish in 30 days – staff 

Meet with and assure the staff that there is a plan  

Assure them that they are still a valued resource for the district 

Hear them out, ask questions, hear their concerns (show genuine interest and concern)  

Gain buy in, explain to them they are part of the solution  

Confirm minimum competencies (identify training needs) 

Explain future changes before they take effect 

Brief and roll out operations plan 

ITEM 3



Felton Fire Protection District Board of Directors 

Special Meeting Minutes 

Monday May 19, 2025 

6:00 PM 

Location: Felton Fire Station Meeting Room, 131 Kirby ST, Felton. CA 

Call to Order: 6:08 PM 

Pledge of Allegiance 

Roll Call: Directors Anderson, Conrad, Schwanbeck, Shults and Chair Crandell were present. 

Consideration of Additions/Deletions to the Agenda: None 

Statements of Disqualification: None 

Consent Agenda: None, all special meeting minutes to be approved at regular board meeting 
on June 2, 2025. 

Public Comment/Oral Communications: 

• Christina Wise, Press Banner. Statement regarding ongoing Brown Act violations and
proper meeting notice; the lack of the Board Secretary at the special meetings and the
loss of leadership from Chief Brownlee with the termination of the Shared Service
Agreement.

• Steve Kuehl, SLV Steve/Citizen. Reference to an article in 1990 following the
Community Hall Fire, where then Chief Ramos commented on the need for paid
personnel and references to consolidation.

• Don Jarvis, retired Fire Chief and LAFCO. Statement regarding timeline facing Felton
Fire and ‘starting over’ as a new agency. He suggested that Felton Fire is no longer
viable and the best option moving forward is a reorganization (consolidation) with
another agency. (note: this was made at the end of the meeting after public comment
had been reopened per request form Don Jarvis).

General Business: 

• Ad Hoc Committee Report regarding outcome of attendance at Zayante Fire Board
Meeting on May 14th: read a letter requesting ZFPD Board form an Ad Hoc Committee to
discuss the Reciprocal Agreement for providing fire protection and emergency services.

ITEM 4



 

ZFPD Board would agree to form an Ad Hoc and asked if FFPD Board had already 
formed such an Ad Hoc. Committee to be Anderson and Schwanbeck. 

• Assign members of the Board to attend drill and brief squad weekly: Directors Crandell 
and Conrad will attend drill and brief squad prior to drill. Discussion that attendance 
could be disruptive to drill; agreed to meet with squad prior to drill. 

• Discussion on District Staffing- 
o Discussion on stipend pay versus hourly rate, Board reminded by AC Ayers that 

regardless of type of pay, employees will need to be enrolled into PERS once 
they meet the 1000-hour threshold. No action. 

o Discussion of staffing option for continued service, including Admin Support, 
current Board Secretary leaving at termination of shared service agreement; also 
discussion regarding current district Admin and her possible retirement, no 
action. 

o Review of Squad Turnover (Schwanbeck)- formulate a list of past employees and 
if appropriate, contact with apology and possible reinstatement. Discussion 
followed, including employee released due to workers comp claim- only current 
W/C claim and associated employee is still a rostered member. 

o Discussion of Interim Fire Chief effective June 8th (Schwanbeck)- general 
discussion, no action. 

• Assignment of Ad Hoc committee for redesign of Felton Fire website, with emphasis on 
legal requirements, home page and recruiting link (Crandell). General discussion 
followed, suggested to fall under a current Ad Hoc composed of Directors Crandell and 
Conrad. 

• Request for information from AC Ayers: Current expenses per ‘Legal’, Proper 501C 
number on website, status of draft budget and timeline. Ayers to report back. 

Meeting Adjourned: 6:53 PM 

 

Approved:      Attested by: 

 

_____________________________   __________________________________ 

Chair Norm Crandell     Interim Chief Mike Ayers 

ITEM 4



ITEM 5



ITEM 5



Board Secretary <boardsec@feltonfire.com>

Felton Fire Website – Draft Review and Next Steps
1 message

Dan Dawson <support@ddhosting.net> Sat, May 17, 2025 at 8:39 AM
To: ncrandell@feltonfire.com
Cc: dconrad@feltonfire.com, boardsec@feltonfire.com, mshults@feltonfire.com, janderson@feltonfire.com,
eschwanbeck@feltonfire.com, isaac blum <ffpdblum@yahoo.com>

Good morning Felton Fire Board of Directors,

My name is Dan Dawson, and I’ve had the pleasure of assisting Felton Fire with the redesign and rebuild of your website
over the past few months. Given the recent leadership changes, I’m currently unsure who the best point of contact is for
the project, so I thought it most appropriate to reach out directly to the full Board.

As shared previously with Norm Crandell, I have a working draft of the new website available for your review:

https://dev.feltonfire.com/

I understand that several content areas will need updating before we can go live. If a primary contact can be designated,
I’d be happy to coordinate directly with them and provide a detailed list of suggested edits and questions.

A few examples of items that may need Board input or confirmation:

About Us: I compiled a draft history of past Fire Chiefs (highlighted in yellow). If someone could fact-check the 
names and dates (e.g., what was Chief Fetherston’s first name?), it would help ensure accuracy.

Our Team: An updated group photo would be ideal. If turnover is frequent, we could alternatively display a 
station photo in the header, or showcase only the Officers with individual photos and list the rest of the team by 
name. Please confirm the current team roster is up to date.

News, Events & Alerts: I recommend posting a brief update regarding the recent Fire Chief transition, 
and any other recent news or press that could provide visitors with current information. These also 
appear on the homepage, so fresh content is especially helpful.

I'm eager to work with the Board and your designated contact to finalize the site and ensure everything is accurate before
we make it public. Please don’t hesitate to reach out with questions, feedback, or content updates.

Thank you for the opportunity to support Felton Fire.

Dan Dawson | Dan Dawson Hosting
59773 Cheyenne Road, Bend, OR 97702 | cell: 541.639.9270
Website: ddhosting.net | Twitter: @DanDawson | Facebook: Dan Dawson

ITEM 5

https://dev.feltonfire.com/
https://dev.feltonfire.com/district-information/about/
https://dev.feltonfire.com/district-information/our-team/
https://dev.feltonfire.com/news-events-and-alerts/
https://www.google.com/maps/search/59773+Cheyenne+Road,+Bend,+OR+97702?entry=gmail&source=g
https://ddhosting.net/
https://twitter.ddphoto.cc/
https://www.facebook.com/DanSDawson
https://ddhosting.net/
https://ddhosting.net/


Fwd: LAFCO Letter re FFPD Governance Report

---------- Forwarded message ----------
From: Joe Serrano <Joe.Serrano@santacruzcountyca.gov>
Date: Friday, May 30, 2025
Subject: LAFCO Letter re FFPD Governance Report
To: Jim Anderson <janderson@feltonfire.com>, "dconrad@feltonfire.com" <dconrad@feltonfire.com>,
"ncrandell@feltonfire.com" <ncrandell@feltonfire.com>, "eschwanbeck@feltonfire.com" <eschwanbeck@feltonfire.com>, 
"mshults@feltonfire.com" <mshults@feltonfire.com>
Cc: "firechief@feltonfire.com" <firechief@feltonfire.com>, Laurie Dennis FFD <ldennis@feltonfire.com>, Francisco 
Estrada <Francisco.Estrada@santacruzcountyca.gov>

Good Afternoon Chair Crandell and Board Members,

My name is Joe Serrano and I am the Executive Officer for the Local Agency Formation Commission of Santa Cruz 
County (better known as LAFCO). Attached is a letter that I would like the board to acknowledge at their upcoming 
meeting (June 2, 2025). This is LAFCO’s attempt to provide assistance in determining how to provide the best level of 
service to the Felton community now and in perpetuity.

Let me know if you have any questions.

-Joe

Joe A. Serrano

Executive Officer
Local Agency Formation Commission of Santa Cruz County

701 Ocean Street, Room 318-D, Santa Cruz, CA 95060

Email: joe@santacruzlafco.org

Phone: (831) 454-2055

ITEM 5

mailto:Joe.Serrano@santacruzcountyca.gov
mailto:Joe.Serrano@santacruzcountyca.gov
mailto:janderson@feltonfire.com
mailto:dconrad@feltonfire.com
mailto:dconrad@feltonfire.com
mailto:ncrandell@feltonfire.com
mailto:ncrandell@feltonfire.com
mailto:eschwanbeck@feltonfire.com
mailto:eschwanbeck@feltonfire.com
mailto:mshults@feltonfire.com
mailto:mshults@feltonfire.com
mailto:firechief@feltonfire.com
mailto:firechief@feltonfire.com
mailto:ldennis@feltonfire.com
mailto:Francisco.Estrada@santacruzcountyca.gov
mailto:Francisco.Estrada@santacruzcountyca.gov
https://www.google.com/maps/search/701+Ocean+Street,+Room+318?entry=gmail&source=g
mailto:joe@santacruzlafco.org


 

 

 

 
 

May 30, 2025 

Norm Crandell, Board Chair 

Felton Fire Protection District 

131 Kirby St. 

Felton, CA 95018 

 

SUBJECT: PROPOSED GOVERNANCE OPTIONS ANALYSIS REPORT 

 

Dear Chair Crandell: 
 

The purpose of this letter is to inform you that the Local Agency Formation Commission of Santa Cruz 

County (better known as LAFCO) will consider developing a governance options analysis report on behalf 

of the Felton Fire Protection District. The LAFCO board will discuss this proposed analysis during our 

upcoming commission meeting on Wednesday, June 4, 20251.  
 

What is LAFCO? 

LAFCO is a state agency that oversees the jurisdictional boundaries and service provisions of cities and 

special districts in each county in California. LAFCO’s statutory authority is derived from the Cortese-Knox-

Hertzberg Local Government Reorganization Act of 2000 (Government Code section 56000, et seq.). 

Among LAFCO’s purposes are: Discouraging urban sprawl, preserving open space and prime agricultural 

lands, efficiently providing government services, and encouraging the orderly formation and development 

of local agencies based upon local conditions and circumstances (Government Code Section 56301). In 

other words, LAFCOs determine which local agency is the most logical provider of public services and 

offers assistance to ensure that affected residents receive the best level of service possible.   
 

Why develop a governance options report? 

It is LAFCO’s understanding that the district is currently distressed. In 2021, FFPD operated with one full-

time fire chief, one part-time employee and 28 volunteer firefighters. Since then, FFPD has seen four 

different fire chiefs, board member resignations, a reduction in volunteers, and the discontinuation of a two-

year agreement with Ben Lomond Fire Protection District (BLFPD) for operational services after only six 

months in effect. The recent governance and operational issues facing FFPD has tasked local agencies, 

including LAFCO, to explore possible options to ensure that the Felton community receives adequate fire 

protection and emergency medical services. The agreement between BLFPD and FFPD is expected to 

expire on June 6, 2025 – leaving FFPD without a fire chief or any administrative support. It is LAFCO’s 

understanding that a potential agreement with Zayante Fire Protection District (ZFPD) may be considered 

to address this imminent dilemma. However, this would be a temporary solution offered by ZFPD to give 

FFPD additional time to consider their options. Therefore, LAFCO staff has determined that a governance 

options analysis may be helpful to determine FFPD’s future. The proposed analysis would be completed 

in-house with direct coordination with affected and interested local agencies – and will be at no-cost to 

FFPD or its residents. The goal is to complete the report no later than September 2025. 
 

Please include this letter in your June 2, 2025 board meeting packet and/or acknowledge this letter during 

the meeting. If you have any questions regarding this letter or the proposed analysis, please contact me at 

(831) 454-2055 or by email at joe@santacruzlafco.org.   
 

Sincerely, 
 

 

Joe A. Serrano 

Executive Officer   

 
1 6/4/25 LAFCO Staff Report: https://santacruzlafco.org/wp-content/uploads/2025/05/6a.0-Fire-Update-Staff-Report.pdf  

Santa Cruz Local Agency Formation Commission 
701 Ocean Street # 318D 

Santa Cruz CA 95060 
Phone: (831) 454-2055 

Email: info@santacruzlafco.org 

Website: www.santacruzlafco.org 

 

ITEM 5

mailto:joe@santacruzlafco.org
https://santacruzlafco.org/wp-content/uploads/2025/05/6a.0-Fire-Update-Staff-Report.pdf
http://www.santacruzlafco.org/


ITEM 6



ITEM 6



ITEM 6



ITEM 6



ITEM 6



ITEM 6



ITEM 6









To: Board of Directors 

From: Acting Chief Mike Ayers 

Agenda of: June 2, 2025 

Subject: Chief’s Report 

Community: 
• Personnel participated in prevention activities at Quail Hollow with new prevention trailer.

This trailer will be used by all SLV Fire Agencies for fire prevention activities for schools and
community groups.

• Personnel participated in and assisted with the Felton Remembers parade.

Budget and Finance: 
• Draft budget information has been provided. Recommend approving this draft budget, it is

balanced and after approval of draft, the board may elect to make changes to the budget
prior to public hearing and submission of the final budget.

• Workers Compensation: The board will need to find new representation to the Workers
Compensation Group; I believe that Director Anderson is an alternate. I have outlined
information in a separate memorandum.

Operations 

• Squad had two resignations, both certified FFI personnel (one had been identified to begin
Driver-Operator training). We have added one new volunteer: he was with BCFD and is an
EMT and certified FFI. One had completed the first part of the application process but then
elected to no longer proceed. Current numbers are 17 personnel (one is subject of a
Workers Comp claim and therefore still listed on roster but no longer responds). 16 ‘active’ 
personnel.

• Training Block is Engine Company Operations. Personnel have been training on PPE, SCBA,
Hose Evolutions, Hydrant Operations and Nozzle Work. A Saturday training session was
completed with sign-offs in probationary manuals for Fire Dynamics.

• EMT Class is progressing; dates and times are set for the didactic portion; it will be a Zoom
format. We are scheduling out the in-person skills sessions. Students will schedule their
own ride-along with EMS provider agency. Class will culminate in extensive National
Registry prep work and the National Registry exam.

• Station compressor has failed, replacement information has been sent out to the Board.

ITEM 7



• Ladder Testing was completed by Ross Ladders. The 35-foot extension ladder failed: ladder
was bent, according to several personnel the ladder had been damaged for some time.
Approved the repair of the ladder; cost will be added to the testing fee. There are sufficient
funds in both Equipment and Apparatus to cover the cost.

• Fuel currently may only be purchased through Captain Dawson’s Cal Card. CAL Fire refused
to allow FEL personnel to fill 2310. I have reached out to Chief Wilson but Have not yet had a
reply. If Captain Dawson does not stay with Felton Fire, there will be no way for apparatus to
obtain fuel.

• Two district apparatus are scheduled for appointments after the end of the shared services
agreement: 2390 has a check engine light on and is scheduled to be seen at Ernie’s Auto on
June 9th at 0800. Engine 2346 has a service required message and is scheduled to be seen at
North Bay Ford on June 10th at 0800.

• VFC Grant: we are currently awaiting to hear about reward of this grant, typically used for
PPE. This is a 50-50 grant, where the VFC matches district monies. The grant we applied for
was for a matching total of $18,100 for: pagers, pager programmer, wildland fire pants,
wildland fire gloves, structure gloves and boots. Our share would be $9050; there is
approximately 42,000 in PPE.

• Public Records Request Update: The attorneys completed the first for batches of emails for
release, with necessary redacted information. Those four batches have been sent to the
person making the request. Attorney is now working on the next batches of emails.

• Program Access and Passwords: various access passwords were changed with the start of
the shared services contract, they are with the district admin (I am uncomfortable listed
here). Working with Chuck Wise for any access/passwords for connectivity with district
IPads (on apparatus) and operational software: Image Trend, First Due and Tablet
Command.

• Outstanding Orders/Invoices: we are waiting on two orders- structure boots and hoods;
they have not come in as of time of this report.

• Outstanding Projects: work on the conversion of the upstairs to dormitories had been
stopped by the board over questions of who was performing the work.

Incidents: 

Felton Fire Protection District responded to 46 calls in the past 30 days: 

Call Type Number of Responses 
Structure 1 
EMS 29 
Alarm 1 
Public Service 11 
Smoke Checks 2 
Vehicle 2 

ITEM 7



Wires 0 
Storm Related 0 
Wildland 0 

• Bigfoot Museum Fire, 4/13/2025 at 22:18.27, 5497 HWY 9. Involved structure was a small
home located on the museum property, between the museum and musical instrument
barn. Agencies assisting: CAL Fire, BLFD, ZFPD and Felton Fire. 1764 arrived first at scene
and gave an arrival report (report was given over CZU Local so only units monitoring heard
that report) and stretched an attack line to the north end of the home. I arrived at scene and
gave an arrival report, did a face to face with 1764 and confirmed their tactics and then
established command. I confirmed that the owner was out and safe. Next arriving units
were 2410 and 2213, I had them stretch a line from 2410 to the southern side of the home to
protect the exposure and confine the fire. Fire was knocked down quickly and we entered
into a lengthy overhaul operation. I completed the investigation, I am a member of the
SCCFIT and current FEL representative on that team. The area of origin was the interior of
the home, at the base of the west wall between a dresser and refrigerator; cause was
undetermined, fire is classed as accidental; report was completed and attached to the
incident report.

• Quarry Road Fire, 5/10/2025 at 13:46.27, 1255 Quarry Road. Outside fire contained within a
planter area in front of home. I was first on scene with 1773 arriving shortly after. Fire was
controlled and I completed the investigation. The area of origin was in the planter area,
adjacent to a solar powered light; cause was solar radiation, focused through the glass bulb
of the solar light, first material ignited was leaves and leaf litter. Fire spread along the wall of
the planter area; this is supported by observations and patterns within the planter.
Investigation report was completed and attached to incident report. Agencies assisting
were BLFD, CAL Fire and Felton Fire.

Santa Cruz Fire Chiefs/Sections: 

• Nick Burgess attended the joint Operations and Training Officers Section meeting at Central
Station 5 on Tuesday May 20th. Meeting confirmed Block Training information and
introduction of two new County Operational draft policies: Fire Ground Command and Size-
Up/Arrival Reports. Both he and I made comments to the drafts, drafts will next go to the
Training Officers Section for further review and then back to the Chiefs for final draft and
distribution county-wide.

• I will be attending the Santa Cruz County Fire Investigation Team (SCCFIT) meeting on June
3rd at Santa Cruz Fire Department Admin.

• Board will need new representation to the County Fire Chiefs and sections: Operations,
Training Officers, Prevention and Investigation Team. There are some requirements for
representation, I have outlined in a separate memorandum.

ITEM 7



Staff Call Response Report MONTH 2025 

Personnel (FFD) # of 
Incidents 

Incident 
Response 

Response % 

Abbey, Quinn 46 13 28% 

Albers, Victor 46 22 48% 

Andersen, Thomas 46 4 9% 

Berlanga, Jamie 46 4 9% 

Bonn, Kevin 46 3 7% 

Bowman, Brendan 46 30 65% 

Crandell, Forrest 46 14 30% 

Dijmarescu, Andreas 46 9 20% 

Florio, Micah 46 29 63% 

Gifford, Micah 46 2 4% 

Mitchell, Rebecca 46 3 7% 

Palau, Stephen 46 33 72% 

Schwanbeck, Daniel 46 3 7% 

Swanson-Dexel, Phoenix 46 8 17% 

Personnel (BLFD) # of 
Incidents 

Incident Response Response % 

Adam, Nick 46 1 2% 
Ayers, Mike 46 8 17% 
Brownlee, Stacie 46 2 4% 
Burgess, Nick 46 7 15% 
Dawson, Audrey 46 14 30% 
Fisher, Garrett 46 7 15% 
Garrahan, Owen 46 2 4% 
Giannini, Kevin 46 10 22% 

ITEM 7



Sanders, Matt 46 1 2% 
Scarborough, Connor 46 5 11% 
Sheets, Jonathan 46 5 11% 
Velaso, Jordan 46 15 33% 

ITEM 7



FELTON FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT 

Memorandum 

To:     District Board  Date:     25 May 2025 

From:     Acting Chief Ayers 

Subject:     Personnel Update/Workers Compensation 

This memorandum is the latest update on Felton Fire personnel and their current 
position/status. 

Name Position EMS 
Abbey, Quinn Probationary FF CPR 
Aguirre Bryan FF (FF-I/CAL Fire) PSFA 
Albers, Victor Driver-Operator 
Anderson, Thomas Probationary FF CPR 
Bonn, Kevin FF (FF-I/CAL Fire) EMT 
Bowman, Brendan Probationary FF CPR 
Casillas-Rodriguez, Josue FF (FF-I/CAL Fire) PSFA 
Crandell, Forrest Probationary FF 
Dijmarescu, Andreas Probationary FF 
Fajardo, Aaron* FF (FF-I/BFFA) EMT 
Florio, Micah Probationary FF 
Gifford, Micah Probationary FF 
** FF (W/C) 
Mitchell, Rebecca FF (FF-I/BFFA) EMT 
Palau, Marcus Probationary FF CPR 
Schwanbeck, Daniel FF (FF-I)/Driver CPR 
Swanson-Dexel, Phoenix Probationary FF CPR  

There have been two resignations in May: Jamie Berlanga and Cian Jackson, both were FF-I 
graduates of the BFFA and had been identified to begin the Driver-Operator process. 

We added one volunteer: Aaron Fajardo. Aaron is a FF-I graduate of the BFFA and an EMT; he 
had been a Firefighter with BCFD but has relocated to Felton. 

**  is on the roster, but has an ongoing Workers Comp claim, and no longer responds nor trains 
due to nature of injury. 

The district has 1 Driver-Operator in Victor Albers, he is a FF/Driver-Operator. He is referred to 
as an Engineer, but that position is a competitive promotion and to my knowledge has not been 
awarded while BLFD has been providing district administration. Daniel Schwanbeck is a Driver 

ITEM 7



(FF/Driver) and after completing Driver-Operator 1B, could complete the district D-O training 
task book and become a FF/Driver-Operator. I recommend that FFPD look to move Firefighters 
Bonn, Fajardo and Mitchell through State Fire Training Driver-Operator 1A and 1B to bolster 
that position. FF Bonn is trying to get added to a CAL Fire sponsored class currently. 

Audry Dawson is not listed as she had become a BLFD employee; however she is a valuable 
asset. She has her State Fire Training Company Officer course work completed and is a qualified 
Engine Boss, listed in the State OES Mutual Aid Personnel Index, other than Dawson, the district 
has no one qualified to fill an out-of-county request. The Engine Boss qualification consists of 
several classes and completion of a task book that would require going out of county in a 
‘trainee’ role. I would recommend that the Board approach her about continuing on as a 
Captain with FFPD. I would also recommended that FFPD identify a member that meets the 
educational and experience requirements and consider appointing them to a Probationary 
Company Officer status, with required training and task book to be completed while on 
probation. 

The district has no qualified or certified Chief Fire Officers, other than myself. It is my 
understanding that there are only 4 certified Chief Fire Officers within the SLV Fire Agencies: 
myself, Chief Bingham (BCFD), BC Gabe Vega (BCFD), and Chief Maxwell (ZFPD). Anyone that 
the district looks to hire as a Fire Chief should be required to at least hold a Chief Fire Officer 
designation from either State Fire Training or the National Fire Academy (these two state and 
national certifications mirror one another). The Board may consider appointing the position 
with required educational requirements that must be completed during the probationary year. 
All competitive promotional positions should incorporate a probationary year for appointees 
with required training and/or education. 

Several Probationary Firefighters have registered for the upcoming EMT class. While they may 
not have any current EMS certifications, several have successfully completed County Pit Crew 
CPR with BLFD at drill. Your new Training Officer should be plugged into the County EMSIA 
training so as to be able to keep members current with EMS requirements and training. 

The only district personnel, qualified to fill an out of county request (Red Card qualified) are: 
Bryan Aguirre (FFT1 or Firefighter Type 1), Kevin Bonn (FFT1), Josue Casillas-Rodriguez (FFT1), 
Aaron Fajardo (FFT1), and Rebecca Mitchell (FFT1); none of them are Driver-Operator qualified 
and therefore unable to operate a wildland type engine. If FFPD were to host a series of 
required classes, all probationary personnel could be brought up to the entry level qualification: 
FFT2 (Firefighter Type 2); Firefighter Type 1 requires successful deployment as a FFT2 or 
attendance at an approved fire academy. Felton is currently unable to fill any out of county 
requests as there are no qualified operators, nor supervisory personnel (Engine Boss). 

It is somewhat dismaying that one or more board members continue to work with the former 
Interim Fire Chief, rather then with myself regarding the status of personnel, and/or on next 
steps to ensure qualified personnel here at Felton. I know the qualifications of the current 

ITEM 7



personnel, who we have added, who has resigned and who would be qualified (as per State Fire 
Training) to attend additional training, such as Driver-Operator. I am unsure why members of 
the board would seek counsel from someone that is no longer an employee, nor involved with 
State Fire Training in any way. 

In terms of Workers Compensation, it was wrongly suggested at a special meeting that a 
member had been released due to a worker’s compensation claim; this is untrue. One former 
employee, Veronica Bonfante, accepted a monetary settlement of her claim, a condition of 
which was her resignation, this was from the Workers Compensation Group and not form 
Felton Fire or Administration. Said former employee did accept the settlement and resigned. 

FF Luna Mello has an active claim with worker’s compensation and is still a rostered member of 
the district. According to a status update on 5/10/2025, worker’s compensation has paid 
$87,000 to date and has $310,000 in reserve for this claim. This claim may well result in a higher 
settlement than the above-mentioned claim, effecting Felton Fire’s Worker’s Compensation 
costs. With the end of the contract between Felton Fire and BLFD, there will be a need to 
appoint a new representative to the W/C Group, I believe that Director Anderson is the listed 
alternate, board should confirm that and take necessary action. 

ITEM 7



FELTON FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT 

Memorandum 

To:     District Board Date:     25 May 2025 

From:     Acting Chief Ayers 

Subject:     Santa Cruz County Fire Chief Committees and Representation 

This memorandum is to inform the Board about the Santa Cruz County Fire Chiefs and that 
organization’s standing committees. Felton Fire currently has representation through BLFD, but 
will lose that representation after June 8th. 

Santa Cruz County Fire Chiefs is an association made up of the current, serving Fire Chiefs 
within Santa Cruz County. This association guides county-wide mutual aid, produces the Mutual 
Aid Manual and Appendices, reviews and adopts County Fire Code (there are no ‘individual’ 
codes within the county, though specific agencies may have their own special requirements, 
such as WUI, permitting process, etc.) and oversees several standing committees: Fire 
Prevention, Santa Cruz County Fire Investigation Team, Santa Cruz County Training Officers, 
Santa Cruz County Fire Operations, EMSIA and County Communications. 

Currently I attend and represent Felton Fire on both the Training Officers and Investigation 
team. Captain Burgess represents Felton Fire with the County Operations Section. 

The Board will have to look to fill those vacancies, however there are some requirements to be 
kept in mind: 

1. The representative to the Operations Section must be a minimum qualified Company
Officer, well versed in fire ground operations. Captain Burgess currently represents both
agencies to the Operations Section.

2. Representative to the Training Officers would be the district Training Officer, normally
the TO is required/recommended to be a qualified Company Officer and State Fire
Training approved Instructor. There are representatives to the TOs that are not
instructors but that severely limits their ability to speak to various training
requirements. I currently represent both agencies to the TO Section.

3. Representative to the Fire Investigation Team must be a qualified Fire Investigator,
either by State Fire Training or California Association of Arson Investigators; or by
appointment to Fire Chief (Fire Chief or designee is required under Fire Code). Team
usage for fire investigations without proper representation could result in severe costs
to the district as the team would be forced to bill out investigation hours for personnel. I
have investigated the two fires Felton has had this year, as well as assisting Chief Gray in

ITEM 7



previous investigations- I am a member of the SCCFIT, currently representing both 
agencies. 

4. Matt Sanders currently represents both FFPD and BLFD with the Fire Prevention Section.
Captain Dawson has fire prevention experience and participates on behalf of FFPD in
various SLV fire prevention activities and inspections for FFPD. At a minimum, the new
representative should have successfully completed Company Officer 2C: Inspection and
Investigation for the Company Officer.

In addition to the above, the Board will need to take steps to ensure a current signatory with 
State Fire Training. This had been me, appointed by Chief Gray, but now shows as inactive… 
someone may well have already been appointed to fill this position. Typically the signatory is a 
registered SFT Instructor, as there are a plethora of requirements to complete various position 
training and task books and an instructor would be well versed in the SFT requirements. 

I am also the Instructor of Record with South Bay Regional Fire Training. South Bay manages 
and holds an agency’s FTE (fire training equivalency monies); FTE may be used to pay for 
various training costs: class registrations, training Materials, textbooks, audio-visual equipment, 
etc. South Bay requires the IOR to be an instructor and must hold a minimum of an Associate’s 
Degree. 

ITEM 7



ITEM 7



ITEM 7



ITEM 7



ITEM 7



ITEM 7



ITEM 7



ITEM 7



PRELIMINARY BUDGET 5/22/2025

40100 PROPERTY TAX-CURRENT SEC-GEN 989,243

40110 PROPERTY TAX-CURRENT UNSEC-GEN 21,213

40430 INTEREST 25,000

40440 RENTS & CONCESSIONS 39,240

40830 ST-HOMEOWNERS' PROPERTY TAX RELIEF 4,528

40894 STATE OTHER - GRANT FUNDING 5,000  

41322 PLAN CHECKING FEES 2,500

42384 OTHER REVENUE 2,000

TOTAL REVENUE 1,088,724

SALARIES & BENEFITS

51000 REGULAR PAY-PERMANENT 327,500

51005 OVERTIME PAY- PERMANENT 5,000

51010 REGULAR PAY-EXTRA HELP 92,500

51015 REGULAR PAY-SICK LEAVE 2,400

52010 OASDI-SOCIAL SECURITY 52,080

52015 RETIREMENT 38,000

53010 EMPLOYEE INSURANCE AND BENEFITS 2,400

53015 UNEMPLOYMENT INSURANCE 20,000

54010 WORKERS COMPENSATION INSURANCE 84,000

TOTAL SALARIES & BENEFITS 623,880

SERVICES & SUPPLIES

61110 CLOTHING & PERSONAL SUPPLIES 42,500

61217 RADIO 41,500

61221 TELEPHONE-NON TELECOM 1099 9/08 12,000

61310 FOOD 4,000

61425 OTHER HOUSEHOLD EXPENSE-SERVICES 5,000

61525 LIABILITY INSURANCE 40,000

61720 MAINT-MOBILE EQUIPMENT-SERVICES 44,000

61721 MAINT-MOBILE EQUIPMENT-SUPPLIES 20,000

61725 MAINT-OFFICE EQUIPMENT-SERVICES 2,000

61730 MAINT-OTHER EQUIPMENT-SERVICES 7,550

61731 MAINT-OTH EQUIP-SUPPLIES 2,500

61848 MAINT-STRUCT/IMPS/GRDS-OTHER-SERVICES 6,300

61846 MAINT-STRUCT/IMPS/GRDS-OTHER-SUPPLIES 10,000

61920 MEDICAL, DENTAL & LAB SUPPLIES 6,000

62020 MEMBERSHIPS 3,000

Felton Fire Protection District

FY 2025/26

REVENUE

EXPENDITURES

5/27/2025

ITEM 8



62219 PC SOFTWARE PURCHASES 9,500

62221 POSTAGE 600

62223 SUPPLIES 2,000

62301 ACCOUNTING AND AUDITING FEES 23,500

62327 DIRECTORS' FEES 8,000

62358 LAUNDRY SERVICES 500

62367 MEDICAL SERVICES-OTHER 10,000

62381 PROF & SPECIAL SERV-OTHER 35,200

62420 LEGAL NOTICES 700

62500 EQUIPMENT LEASE & RENT 500

62715 SMALL TOOLS & INSTRUMENTS 3,000

62826 EDUCATION AND/OR TRAINING 20,000

62888 SPECIAL DISTRICT EXPENSE-SERVICES 14,000

62920 GAS, OIL, FUEL 20,000

62928 TRAVEL-OTHER 3,000

63074 UTILITIES 31,300

TOTAL SERVICES & SUPPLIES 428,150

86110 BUILDINGS AND IMPROVEMENTS 31,200

86203 COMP EQUIPMENT 0

86204 EQUIPMENT 5,494

86209 MOBILE EQUIPMENT

TOTAL FIXED ASSETS 36,694

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 1,088,724

98700 CONTINGENCIES 650,000

PPE  100,000

Mobile Equipment 250,000

Worker's Comp 100,000

Building and Grounds 200,000

5/27/2025

ITEM 8



40100 PROPERTY TAX-CURRENT SEC-GEN

$989,243

Total $989,243

40110 PROPERTY TAX-CURRENT UNSEC-GEN

$21,213

Total $21,213

40430 INTEREST $25,000

40440 RENTS AND CONCESSIONS

A T & T monthly rental ($3,270/mo) $39,240

Total $39,240

40830 ST-HOMEOWNERS' PROPERTY TAX RELIEF

$4,528

Total  $4,528

40894 STATE OTHER - GRANT FUNDING $5,000

41322 PLAN CHECKING FEES $2,500

42384 OTHER REVENUE $2,000

In-Service training reimbursement, Report fees, misc. 

GRAND TOTAL REVENUES $1,088,724

FELTON FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT

Fiscal Year 2025/2026 PRELIMINARY Budget

5/27/2025
1 ITEM 8



51000 REGULAR PAY-PERMANENT

1 Fire Chief $50,000  

2 1@ Captain, 1@ Firefighters fulltime $255,000

3 Admin Asst $22,500

Total $327,500

51005 OVERTIME PAY-PERMANENT

1 Overtime pay $5,000 $5,000

51010 REGULAR PAY-EXTRA HELP

 

1 Duty Coverage @75.00 a shift $27,500

2 Volunteer Stipends for response $65,000

Total $92,500

51015 REGULAR PAY-SICK LEAVE

 

1 Sick Leave $2,400

Total $2,400

52010 OASDI-SOCIAL SECURITY

1 FICA $52,080  

Total $52,080

52015 RETIREMENT

 

1 Retirement contributions $5,000  

2 $33,000

Total $38,000

53010 EMPLOYEE INSURANCE AND BENEFITS

 

1 Life/AD&D- all employees                                                                                                                                                                                      $2,400

Total $2,400

53015 UNEMPLOYMENT INSURANCE

 

1 Unemployment Ins contributions $20,000

Total $20,000

54010 WORKERS COMPENSATION INSURANCE

 

1 Insurance Contributions $84,000

Total $84,000

Minimum Unfunded Accrued Liability (UAL)

5/27/2025
2 ITEM 8



TOTAL SALARIES & BENEFITS $623,880

61110 CLOTHING & PERSONAL SUPPLIES

Items for personal use, including safety equipment: Badges, belts, 

gloves, goggles, helmets, masks, raincoats, rubber boots, uniforms, 

uniform allowance

1 PPE $35,000

2 Boots $2,500

3 Passport/Accountability Equipment $1,000

4 Other $4,000

Total $42,500

61217 RADIO SERVICES

Special communication equipment

1 Netcom Services $25,000

2 Radio repair or replacement,batteries $5,000

3 Annual Software license Cradelpoint $500

4 Tablet Command 3 year contract $11,000

Total $41,500

61221 TELEPHONE-NON TELECOM 

1 Internet and telephone service $3,000

2 Cellular phone service & First Net Cradle Point $9,000

Total $12,000

61310 Food

1 Food-Fire Calls / Meetings / Paynight $4,000

Total $4,000

61425 OTHER HOUSEHOLD EXPENSE-SERVICES

Kitchen utensils; bedding and laundry; Brooms, mops, wax, cleaners; 

Curtain, drapes, rugs ( when not capitalized ) ; Garbage cans, 

hot plates, towels, toilet tissue, PLUS refuse disposal per current state 

guidelines. 

1 Green waste $2,000

2 Household - MISC $2,000

3 Coast Paper $1,000

Total $5,000

61525 LIABILITY INSURANCE

1 Annual Premium $40,000

Total $40,000
5/27/2025

3 ITEM 8

file://192.168.1.2/shared/John Charchos PC/Documents and Settings/User/Desktop/My Documents/Briefcase/Budget/2009_10/Phone Estimate.pdf


61720 MAINT-MOBILE EQUIPMENT-SERVICES

Automotive supplies such as lubrication oil, light bulbs, spark plugs, 

coolant, tires, tubes, fan belts, etc.; Contractual repairs and overhauls.

1 Maint. & repairs to mobile equipment-labor costs $40,000

2 Annual Contribution - Air Unit $2,000

3 Annual Contribution - Education Trailer $2,000

Total $44,000

61721 MAINT-MOBILE EQUIPMENT-SUPPLIES

1 Tire replacement $5,000

2 Maint. & repair parts $15,000

Total $20,000

61725 MAINT-OFFICE EQUIPMENT-SERVICES

Costs of repairing office equipment; Service agreements for maintenance 

of office equipment; Cost of printer ink and copier toner.

1 Monterey Bay Office Products - Copier service $2,000

Total $2,000

61730 MAINT-OTHER EQUIPMENT-SERVICES-labor

Costs of repairing firefighting equip. and related equip.; Cost of  

repairing rescue equip.

1 Ladder Testing  $600

2 Jaws of life service $1,200

3 Maint. chainsaw  $1,000

4 SCBA Flow test $2,000

5 Santa Cruz Fire Equip maint all fire extinguishers $700

6 Misc. Repairs $2,050

Total $7,550

61731 MAINT-OTH EQUIP-SUPPLIES

Costs of repairing firefighting equip. and related equip.parts 

1 Chainsaw chains, misc. parts $500

2 Misc. parts $2,000

Total $2,500

61848  MAINT-STRUCT/IMPS/GRDS-OTHER-SERVICES

*Any cost to maintain or make structural improvements

or improvements to buildings or grounds

1 Station Repairs $6,300

Total $6,300

5/27/2025
4 ITEM 8



61846 MAINT-STRUCT/IMPS/GRDS-OTHER-SUPPLIES

*Any cost to maintain or make structural improvements

 or improvements to buildings or grounds

1 General building maintenance -supplies $5,000 

2 Roof repairs $5,000 

Total $10,000

61920 MEDICAL, DENTAL & LAB SUPPLIES

Note: medical supplies

1 Oxygen $1,000

2 Medical Supplies $5,000

Total $6,000

62020 MEMBERSHIPS

Includes memberships in societies, associations, and other organizations

1 Santa Cruz County Fire Chiefs Association $400

2 $2,000

3 Admin.Fire.Serv./ division of CalChiefs (AFSS) $75

4 FDAC $300

5 Other $225

Total $3,000

62219  PC SOFTWARE PURCHASES

1 First Due records management suite $8,500

2 Misc. software purchase (i.e. Adobe) $1,000

Total $9,500

62221 POSTAGE

1 UPS $300

2 USPS $300

Total $600

62223 OFFICE SUPPLIES

1 Office Supplies  $2,000

Total $2,000

62301 ACCOUNTING AND AUDITING FEES

1 Payroll /Claims Services for FY  $6,000

2 Property Tax Admin. Fees $7,500

3 Other - Audit $10,000

Total $23,500

Santa Cruz County EMS Integration Authority

5/27/2025
5 ITEM 8



62327 DIRECTORS' FEES

 Fees paid to (5) Fire Directors ($100.00) Per Meeting

1 Meeting fees (Annually) $8,000  

Total $8,000

62358 LAUNDRY SERVICES

   

1 Cleaning of PPE $500

Total $500

62367  MEDICAL SERVICES-OTHER

 

1 FF Physicals / follow-up tests                                                                                                                                                                                         $10,000

Total $10,000

62381 PROF & SPECIAL SERV-OTHER

 Most professional and specialized services performed by outsiders: legal 

services, appraisals, accounting and auditing, surveys, fire marshal services. 

1 Computer Networking Service                                                                                                                                                                             $3,000

2 LAFCO Fees                                                                                                                                                                                      $1,200

3 Legal Services                                                                                                                                                                                          $25,000

4 Web site and social media $3,000

5 Recruitment and marketing $1,000

6 SC Co Envir. -  special water meter tax $500

7 Environmental Health - Health permit annual renewal $1,000

8 other $500

Total $35,200

62420 LEGAL NOTICES

 Expenses for the publication of legally required notices and reports

1 SV & SLV Press-Banner                                            $450

2 Misc. $250

Total $700

62500 EQUIPMENT LEASE & RENT

 Rents and leases paid for the use of equipment and other articles, including 

agreement with option to purchase; Rent of films, exhibits, models and 

communication equipment.

1 Misc. $500

Total $500

5/27/2025
6 ITEM 8



62715 SMALL TOOLS & INSTRUMENTS

 Small tools not classified as fixed assets; Carpentry, machine and general 

purpose tools, drafting, engineering and surveying tools; Gardening

 tools; specialized tools and instruments (not nails bolts, screws, etc.)  

1 Small tools, shop tools $1,000

2 Misc. Batteries $1,500

3 Misc.  $500

Total $3,000

62826  EDUCATION AND TRAINING

 

1 New Hire Training Academy                                                                                                                                                                                 $2,500

2 EMT training and Recerts $6,000

3 Target Solutions annual renewal $3,000

4 Driver Operator/Command training $5,500

5 Training Materials $3,000

Total $20,000

62888 SPECIAL DISTRICT EXPENSE-SERVICES

 Specialized supplies and services peculiar to one or a few districts, for which 

an account has not been otherwise provided:

Books for circulating (Libraries) 

Film development, supplies and expense (fire)

Election expense

Hoses, couplings and nozzles (fire)

1 Foam $1,000

2 Fire Prev., Supplies, Equip.                                                                                                                                                                             $500

3 Hoses, couplings and nozzles (fire) $5,500

4 Misc $7,000

Total $14,000

62920 GAS, OIL, FUEL

 

1 Fuel- Diesel $11,000

2 Fuel - Gas $7,500

3 Fuel - small equipment $1,500

Total $20,000

62928 TRAVEL OTHER

 Includes: Auto & truck gasoline; delivery charges; Reimbursement for 

private car use; Reimbursement for meals, lodging, bridge tools, train, bus, 

air fare; any other authorized travel expense

1 Conference Travel $1,500

2 Misc. Travel & Training $1,500

Total $3,000

5/27/2025
7 ITEM 8



63074 UTILITIES  

 Cost of gas, electricity, water, butane, heating oil, sewage disposal, etc. 

1 Natural Gas PG&E $29,000

2 SLV Water                                                                                                                                                                                     $2,300

Total $31,300

TOTAL SERVICES AND SUPPLIES $428,150

86110 BUILDINGS AND IMPROVEMENTS

 Major alterations or improvements to existing structures: Buildings, 

landscaping, Pipelines, Wells, pavement, Drains, Fences, Hydrant.

1 Building upgrades/ Upstairs $23,200

2 General building maintenance $8,000

Total $31,200

86203 EQUIPMENT (Computer Equipment)

Total $0

86204 EQUIPMENT
 Expenditures for the acquisition of physical property of a permanent 

nature other than land, buildings and improvements.  Include: Freight 

or other carriage charges; Sales, use and transportation taxes; 

installation costs.

1 Equipment $5,494

Total $5,494

86209 MOBILE EQUIPMENT

 Expenditures for the acquisition of vehicles

1

Total $0

TOTAL FIXED ASSETS $36,694

25/26 Total operational Budget $1,088,724

5/27/2025
8 ITEM 8



98700 Contingencies $650,000

1 PPE $100,000

2 Mobile Equipment $250,000

3 Workers Comp $100,000

4 Building and Grounds $200,000

Figures Updated 05/22/25

5/27/2025
9 ITEM 8



Board Secretary <boardsec@feltonfire.com>

CSDA Trial Membership
1 message

Olivia Robertson <oliviar@csda.net> Thu, May 22, 2025 at 1:40 PM
To: "ldennis@feltonfire.com" <ldennis@feltonfire.com>, "janderson@feltonfire.com" <janderson@feltonfire.com>,
"dconrad@feltonfire.com" <dconrad@feltonfire.com>, "ncrandell@feltonfire.com" <ncrandell@feltonfire.com>,
"boardsec@feltonfire.com" <boardsec@feltonfire.com>, "eschwanbeck@feltonfire.com" <eschwanbeck@feltonfire.com>,
"mshults@feltonfire.com" <mshults@feltonfire.com>

Hello Felton FPD Team and Board Members, 

Good afternoon! I hope this email finds you all well. I'm reaching out to check in on the trial CSDA
membership for Felton Fire Protection district.
How is the trial membership going for you so far? Is there anything I can do to help you to take advantage of
it and access our resources? 

I had been in communication with Chief Brownlee throughout the course of the trial and wanted to connect
with you all in this transition period. You all have access to trainings, resources, publications, and more on
our website until the end of the trial membership on June 30, so you still have plenty of time to explore.

If any of you have any questions about CSDA or the trial membership, please let me know. I'll be in touch
over the next few weeks to discuss next steps for joining as full members, if you decide to do so. 

I look forward to connecting with you!

Best,

Olivia Robertson
Member Services Specialist

Join us for the General Manager Leadership Summit
June 29 – July 1, 2025 in Olympic Valley

California Special Districts Association
1112 I Street, Suite 200
Sacramento, CA 95814
877.924.2732 office
www.csda.net

A Proud California Special Districts Alliance Partner.
California Special Districts Association
Special District Risk Management Authority
CSDA Finance Corporation

ITEM 9

https://gmsummit.csda.net/
https://www.google.com/maps/search/1112+I+Street,+Suite+200+%0D%0A+%0D%0ASacramento,+CA+95814?entry=gmail&source=g
http://www.csda.net/
https://www.facebook.com/CSDAdistricts
https://www.facebook.com/CSDAdistricts
https://www.instagram.com/CSDAdistricts/
https://www.instagram.com/CSDAdistricts/
https://twitter.com/CSDAdistricts
https://twitter.com/CSDAdistricts
https://www.linkedin.com/company/california-special-districts-association
https://www.linkedin.com/company/california-special-districts-association


California Special Districts 

Association 1112 I Street, Suite 200 

Sacramento, CA 95814 

Invoice 

P.O. No. Terms Project 

Quantity Description Rate Amount 

2025 Regular Member Dues 

20% off first year dues (valid when joining by August 31) 
$4,320 

-$864 
$4,320 
-$864 

Total:     $3,456 

Bill To 

Felton Fire Protection District 
131 Kirby Street 
Felton, CA 95018 

Date Invoice # 

5/21/2025 9743-25 

ITEM 9



Santa	Cruz	County	Fire	Agencies	Insurance	Group	

Board	of	Directors	Meeting	 April	14,	2025	

Managed	by	Keenan	&	Associates	

ITEM	7.2:	 Workers’	Compensation	Coverage	Provider	

PRESENTER:	Jessica	Blushi,	SCCFAIG	CAO	

ACTION	FOR	CONSIDERATION:	
		Direct	CAO	and	Board	Chair	to	on	preferred	Workers’	Compensation	program	effective	July	1,	2025.	

BACKGROUND:	

The	Santa	Cruz	County	Fire	Agencies	Insurance	Group	was	formed	as	a	joint	powers	authority	in	March	of	
1977	 to	 procure	Workers’	 Compensation	 coverage	 and	 associated	 services	 as	 a	 group	 rather	 than	 as	
individual	districts.		

Several	Members	raised	concerns	about	the	cost	of	Workers’	Compensation	coverage	and	claims	handling.	In	
response,	the	JPA	Administrator,	Keenan	&	Associates,	obtained	quotes	from	CIRA	and	GSRMA,	which	were	
presented	to	the	Ad	Hoc	Committee	on	November	4,	2025.		

After	comparing	CIRA,	GSRMA	and	PRISM,	the	Ad	Hoc	Committee	recommended	pursuing	underwriting	
approval	from	CIRA.		Keenan	then	collected	the	necessary	historical	documentation	for	CIRA’s	review	and	
quoting.	Since	the	last	meeting,	CIRA’s	excess	carrier,	Safety	National	has	approved	SCCFAIG	for	
membership,	however,	at	a	higher	rate.		The	table	below	includes	premiums	based	on	updated	rates	for	both	
CIRA	and	GSRMA.		With	the	rate	adjustments,	CIRA	offers	premium	savings	to	Central	and	Scotts	Valley.		
Once	estimated	deductibles	are	considered,	it	is	likely	that	only	Central	would	be	at	a	lower	cost	with	CIRA.		
Given	the	$5,000	deductible	per	claim	with	CIRA,	their	option	also	creates	budget	volatility	for	the	smaller	
districts.			

The	Board	could	decide	to	move	forward	with	both	options,	allowing	those	members	who	prefer	the	CIRA	
deductible	model	to	bind	coverage	with	CIRA	and	those	members	who	prefer	to	continue	to	have	a	first	
dollar	option	to	bind	with	GSRMA.		SCCFAIG	could	continue	as	a	JPA	through	the	transition,	and	potentially	
into	the	future,	depending	on	the	Board’s	preference.	

RECOMMENDATION(S):		None	

District Deductible X-Mod Payroll CIRA Premium Deductible Estimate CIRA Est. Total GSRMA Premium Expiring Premium
Aromas Tri County FPD $5,000 0.832 $15,000 $1,093 $5,000 $6,093 $1,031 $1,000
Ben Lomond FPD $5,000 1.251 $746,840 $48,043 $5,000 $53,043 $8,994 $13,543
Boulder Creek FPD $5,000 1.261 $275,328 $20,416 $5,000 $25,416 $10,279 $18,783
Central FPD $10,000 1.468 $19,001,965 $1,589,047 $240,000 $1,829,047 $1,921,547 $2,012,055
Felton FPD $5,000 1.359 $111,460 $16,407 $10,000 $26,407 $42,042 $79,507
Pajaro Valley FPD $5,000 0.832 $15,000 $1,093 $5,000 $6,093 $1,031 $1,000
Santa Cruz County FPD $5,000 2.713 $76,000 $11,644 $15,000 $26,644 $5,676 $41,857
Scotts Valley FPD $5,000 1.468 $5,639,495 $485,961 $35,000 $520,961 $491,358 $539,390
Zayante FPD $5,000 1.507 $179,664 $16,083 $10,000 $26,083 $15,207 $92,476
Total $26,060,752 $2,189,788 $330,000 $2,519,788 $2,497,165 $2,799,611

Estimated PRISM Renewal Premium $3,225,000

ITEM 10



Public Risk Innovation Solutions and Management 
(PRISM)

California Intergovernmental  Risk Authority (CIRA) Golden State Risk Management Authority (GSRMA)

Membership Obligations
Commitment Period 1 Year 5 Years 3 Years
Mandatory Coverages None None None
Governance
Mission PRISM is a member-directed risk sharing pool of 

public agencies committed to providing risk coverage 
programs and risk management services, which drive 
member stability, efficiency, and best practices.

CIRA is a collaborative group of public agencies 
providing excellent* risk financing programs. We 
provide innovative and
evolving risk management solutions.

* “Excellent” is defined as sustainable and stable yet
flexible

Vision: Empowering our communities to thrive
Mission: We partner with our clients in their pursuit 
of excellence through the delivery of high quality, 
innovative services provided in an efficient and cost-
effective manner.
  Core Values: 
  Family first
  Integrity
  Positive environment
  Fairness
  Fiscal responsibility

Board Each county member has a seat on the Board (55 
County Board Members).  Non-county members have 
7 elected representative Board Member seats with 3 
alternate board members.  

Each member has a seat on the Board.  Board meets 
twice a year.
The Board amended the Bylaws last year to create a 
Special District Member category which provides for 
up to seven voting members on the Board for the 
Special District category and 1 seat on the Executive 
Committee.  

Seven member representative Board with designated 
seats for:
County Reps (2)
School Rep
Cemetery District Rep
Fire District Rep
Special District Rep
City Rep
Reps are elected by the districts of the type that they 
represent. 2 year terms.
All representatives are elected or appointed officials 
from member district boards

Committees Excess Workers' Compensation is govered by the 
Board of Directors with input from the Underwriting 
and Executive Committees
Primary Workers' Compensatoin is governed by the 
PWC Committee

Executive Committee, elected from among the Board, 
meets quarterly
other committees include:
Underwriting
Safety
Coverage
Workers' Compensation
Claims
Finance
HR Task Force

None

Pool Location Folsom, CA Folsom, CA Willows, CA
Type of Pool

ITEM 10



Philosophy Allows members to manage their larger retentions 
with excess reporting.  Risk management and loss 
control services provided upon member request.  

The CIRA Board of Directors and staff work together 
with the membership to promote the following tenets 
of the pool’s philosophy:
•Work together toward a greater good
•Balance individual interests with pool interests
•Engage in constructive discussion
•Embrace diverse opinions
•Encourage participation by all members

GSRMA was created for the purpose of providing 
services and other items necessary and appropriate 
for the establishment, operation and maintenance of 
liability, workers’ compensation, property and other 
risk pooling and insured plans for public agencies. 
We also provide our members with a forum for 
discussion, study, development and implementation 
of recommendations of mutual interest regarding 
risk pooling and insured programs.

Type of Entities in Program
Types of Entities in Pool Any Public Agency in CA and Some Other States CIRA is a statewide risk-sharing Joint Powers Authority 

providing comprehensive coverage to cities, towns, 
and non-municipal public agencies throughout 
California

Membership covers a broad spectrum of public 
agencies including, but not limited to, cemetery 
districts, special districts (water, sewer, and lighting), 
fire districts, school districts, counties and cities. 

300 direct members representing 2,300 Public 
Entities.  145 CA cities are direct members with 
additional cities that are members of JPAs.

56 direct members in California. In excess of 310 member agencies in the California.

Contribution Allocation Policy(s)
Excess Workers' Compensation 7 years of loss data.  Losses are capped.  There is no cap 

on how much the ex-mod can move in one year.
Excess with Gray Insurance and Safety National and is 
payroll based.  Rate is reviewed each year and is not 
based on ex-mod.  CIRA has had flat rate since 
inception.

Primary Workers' Compensation Based on actuarially expected losses a.Based on payroll and actuarially expected losses 
using 5-years of loss history
b.Limit losses to $250,000 per claim.
c.Apply a credibility factor based on the Participant’s 
weight, between 10%-75%
d.Cap the experience modification factor at a 
minimum of 0.50 and maximum of 2.00
e.Not increase or decrease more than 25% from the 
prior year for any Participant.

Responsibilities If Leave Pool
Pool Administrative Costs After Leaving None.  If a member leaves, they cannot apply to return 

for 3 years.
Withdrawing Members shall forfeit any remaining 
equity. In addition to foregoing equity, withdrawing 
members shall be subject to an administrative fee 
equal to their pro-rata share of ongoing expenses for 
the three program years following withdrawal.

None. If a member leaves, they cannot apply to 
return for 5 years. 

Assessments If declared by Board, member is responsible for pro-
rata share in the year(s) of participation for which the 
assessment is declared regardless of current 
membership.

 If declared by Board, member is responsible for pro-
rata share in the year(s) of participation for which the 
assessment is declared regardless of current 
membership.

If declared by the Board, member is responsible for 
pro-rata share in the year(s) of participation 
applicable. 

Based on exposure (payroll, # Volunteer FF)
Ex-mod: 5 years of incurred losses, cap at $100K, 
Limited to .5 min and 2.0 max, application 
smoothed

ITEM 10



Current Assessment Status No Currrent Assessment to Members for WC No Current Assessment to Members for WC None (Note: GSRMA has never had an assessment in 
its 45 or so years of existence)

Return of Net Assets (Dividend) Members receive returns if it is declared by the 
authority and the member participated in the 
program and year(s) for which there is a return of 
funds.

 Members receive returns if it is declared by the 
authority and the member participated in the 
program and year(s) for which there is a return of 
funds.

If declared by the Board, returned to members that 
participated in the program during the dividend 
period based on member contribution during that 
period

2024/25 Contributions/Estimates
Primary Workers' Compensation $1,934,073.00 $1,623,402.00
Excess Workers' Compensation $779,414.00 $191,976.00
Program Cost $2,713,487.00 $1,815,378.00 $2,379,721 
Limits
Excess Workers' Compensation Statutory

$5,000,000 Employers Liability
Statutory
$2,000,000 Employers Liability

Statutory
$5,000,000 Employers Liability

Retention
Workers' Compensation None $5,000 per claim None
Services

Services Included
As a member of PRISM ourselves, our members 
have access to all the services that PRISM offers.

Risk Management Subsidy $2,000 subsidy per major program per year.  $3,500 safety grant per year  Risk Management Accreditation Program (RMAP) 
credits up to 10% of annual premium.

Contract Review x x x
DMV Pull Program X (Provided via a PRISM Partner Program at a 

negotiated rate.)
X (Provided via a PRISM Partner Program at a 
negotiated rate.)

Employment Law Support x x
On-Line Training Available at negoated rate x In-house webinars developed in-house and presented 

via Webinar. 
Onsite Training Loss Control staff can develop and deliver  training to 

member(s) at member requests
Encouraged. Individual and regional training 
available.

Onsite Consultation Each CIRA member is offered a minimum of one day of 
dedicated onsite service annually.  Initial site visits 
include a loss analysis and a comprehensive risk 
assessment intended to evaluate operations for 
general liability and workers’ compensation 
exposures, compliance with regulations, and 
adherence to industry best practices. The assessment 
also identifies potential exposures, provides 
recommendations to correct/mitigate those hazards, 
and helps improve current practices and/or policies to 
better manage risks. Subsequent visits are dedicated 
to addressing any findings from the risk assessment, 
assisting members in implementing the suggested 
recommendations, and providing other services in 
consultation with members as needed.

As requested. Annual meeting with Risk Control 
advisor either in-person or via Zoom

Policy Development Assistance available through PRISM Counsel x

ITEM 10



Actuarial Services PRISM coordinates actuarial assessment of PWC 
exposure each year

CIRA conducts annual actuary study of program and 
SIR analysis every 3 years

Contributions calculated in-house with actuarial 
studies provided by Bickmore Actuarial 

On-Line Training Target Solutions On-Line Training with fire service 
trainings available at additional cost.

Target Solutions On-Line Training with fire service 
trainings reimbursed.

Defense Attorney Panel None  Approved panel 
Claims Administration
Philosophy Allows members to manage their own claims with 

minimal involvement unless the claim starts going in a 
negative direction.

CIRA provides proactive claims oversight by working 
closely with each member and the third-party claims 
administrator.

We partner with the injured worker, medical 
providers and member district to achieve the best 
outcomes for all.  

Workers' Compensation Primary - must select from approved panel:
AdminSure
Intercare
LWP
Sedgwick

LWP In-house. Very experienced with extensive safety 
personnel experience as well. Smaller claim loads 
compared to any TPA so more attention can be paid 
to individual workers and their claims.

Additional Underwriting Steps
None Should SCCFAIG elect to pursue CIRA membership, it is 

subject to CIRA Board and excess approvals.    
Current loss runs 

Notes

ITEM 10



ITEM 11



ITEM 11



ITEM 11



ITEM 11



ITEM 11



ITEM 11



ITEM 11



ITEM 11



ITEM 11



ITEM 11



ITEM 11



ITEM 11



ITEM 11



ITEM 11



Board Secretary <boardsec@feltonfire.com>

Fwd: Draft FEL-ZAY Emergency Staffing Proposal
2 messages

Erica Schwanbeck <eschwanbeck@feltonfire.com> Tue, May 27, 2025 at 4:45 PM
To: Board Secretary <boardsec@feltonfire.com>, Jim Anderson <janderson@feltonfire.com>

Hi Tess,
Jim is out of town and is asking that I send this to you to agendize. Let me know if you have any questions and I'll do my
best to answer them!

- Erica

---------- Forwarded message ---------
From: Jim Anderson <janderson@feltonfire.com>
Date: Fri, May 23, 2025 at 5:36 PM
Subject: Fwd: Draft FEL-ZAY Emergency Staffing Proposal
To: Erica Schwanbeck <eschwanbeck@feltonfire.com>

Let me know what you think, we'll need to get this on the agenda. Thanks Jim

---------- Original Message ----------
From: Jeff Maxwell <jmaxwell@zayantefire.com>
To: Kristi Locatelli <klocatelli@yahoo.com>, Jim Anderson <jimwanderson@comcast.net>, Jeff Maxwell
<jmaxwell@zayantefire.com>
Cc: Joe Serrano <Joe.Serrano@santacruzcountyca.gov>
Date: 05/23/2025 5:19 PM PDT
Subject: Draft FEL-ZAY Emergency Staffing Proposal

Attached is a Draft Temporary Staffing framework designed to recognize the immediate threat to the
residents of the Felton Fire Protection District as inflicted by the sudden termination of a Shared Service
Agreement with the Ben Lomond Fire District effective June 8, 2025. 

It is the desire of the Zayante Fire Protection District to ensure critical emergency response assets
are available in both communities during working hours Monday-Friday when additional volunteer personnel
are not available. It is not the intent of Zayante Fire participate in the reorganization of Felton Fire or provide
administrative oversight for the Fire District. It is recommended Felton Fire appoint a competent Fire Chief
to assist in the redevelopment of organizational structures at its earliest convienance.  

Historically we have relied on each other for automatic aid for escalating incidents. In recognition of differing
cultures and the current challenges faced by Felton Fire specific roles and relationships have been
delineated in this proposal to ensure continuity of operations and firefighter safety. 

Zayante Fire retains the authority to interview and select potential candidates from the ranks of Felton Fire
best suited for these positions to ensure compatability of skills, attitude and commitment to the community. 

Please review and reply all if terms and conditions are acceptable or if further discussion is required. If
acceptable a formal document will be developed for Governing Body approval. 
--
-

ITEM 12

mailto:janderson@feltonfire.com
mailto:eschwanbeck@feltonfire.com
mailto:jmaxwell@zayantefire.com
mailto:klocatelli@yahoo.com
mailto:jimwanderson@comcast.net
mailto:jmaxwell@zayantefire.com
mailto:Joe.Serrano@santacruzcountyca.gov
mailto:Joe.Serrano@santacruzcountyca.gov


Jeff Maxwell 
Fire Chief, Zayante Fire Protection District

(831) 335-5100 | (831) 809-3489 | zayantefire.com
jmaxwell@zayantefire.com
7700 East Zayante Rd. Felton Ca. 95018

Staffing Proposal .pdf
152K

ITEM 12

tel:(831)+335-5100
tel:(831)+529-7900
http://zayantefire.com/
mailto:dwalters@zayantefire.com
https://maps.google.com/?q=7700%20East%20Zayante%20Rd.%20Felton%20Ca.%2095018
http://facebook.com/zayantefire
http://instagram.com/zayantefire
https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ui=2&ik=2298309679&view=att&th=1971423766417858&attid=0.1&disp=attd&realattid=196ffb67e12ea9a6d401&safe=1&zw
https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ui=2&ik=2298309679&view=att&th=1971423766417858&attid=0.1&disp=attd&realattid=196ffb67e12ea9a6d401&safe=1&zw
https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ui=2&ik=2298309679&view=att&th=197179f4cffcca56&attid=0.1&disp=attd&realattid=196ffb67e12ea9a6d401&safe=1&zw
https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ui=2&ik=2298309679&view=att&th=197179f4cffcca56&attid=0.1&disp=attd&realattid=196ffb67e12ea9a6d401&safe=1&zw


ZAYANTE FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT 
7700 E. Zayante Rd 
Felton Ca. 95018 

    TEMPORARY STAFFING PROPOSAL 

   DRAFT 

FELTON FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT – IMMEDIATE RELIEF STAFFING PLAN 

In consideration of the discussion and daylighting of the Staffing challenges faced by the 
Felton Fire Protection District and the implied impact it will have on the Zayante Fire 
Protection District resulting from the Shared Service Agreement terminated by the Ben 
Lomond Fire District effective June 8, 2025 ; the Zayante Fire Protection District proposes 
for consideration a Draft Concept of Operations and shared funding model for daytime 
emergency response staffing. This concept is considered only a temporary model in 
support of the residents of the Felton Fire District and allows the Felton Fire District 
limited time to develop a reorganization plan.  

The Zayante Fire District extends this response coverage plan by concept in 90 day 
intervals subject to review and approval or termination by either Board of Directors 
effective June 8th or as approved.  

Zayante Fire District is an equal opportunity employer and is committed to equal 
consideration and treatment in membership without regard to age, sex, race, color, 
creed, religion, marital status, sexual orientation and associated protected classes. The 
District values civility in all interactions, teamwork, community centered service and 
dedication to the communities we serve.  

CONCEPT OF OPERATIONS 

      SHARED (6) PERSON STAFFING MODEL :  MONDAY – FRIDAY (8-5) 

(1) CHIEF OFFICER/DUTY CHIEF

(1) ENGINE COMPANY : CAPTAIN, DRIVER OPERATOR, FF-EMT

(1) QUICK RESPONSE VEHICLE or TBD : DRIVER OPERATOR, FF-EMT

Objective :  a minimum daily staffing model of (1) Chief Officer , (1) Company Officer, (2) 
Driver/Operators, (2) Firefighters with at least  (3) personnel qualified as EMT’s. Actual 
assignments may vary based on availability of personnel.  

Assignments : As directed by the Zayante Duty Chief in consideration of the combined   
needs within both Districts. Zayante recognizes there is service need in both jurisdictions 
for response coverage and retains the priviledge and authority to position units 
accordingly based on total area served and at a level of best effort given day to day 
challenges and conditions.   

ITEM 12



COST APPORTIONMENT : 

Utilization of existing daytime paid staffing at Zayante Fire District supplemented at full 
cost by the Felton Fire District to provide a combined  6 person daytime model Monday 
thru Friday between the hours of 8-5pm.  

Night and Weekend coverage in the Felton Fire District is the responsibility of the Felton 
Fire District. ZAY assistance to FEL during night and weekends will be in accordance with 
previously established agreements.  

ZAYANTE FIRE will FUND the following positions : 

1    Chief Officer/Duty Officer M-F 8-5 

1 Driver Operator : M-F 8-5 

1 FF/EMT : Monday – Wednesday 8-5 

FELTON FIRE will FUND at full cost the following positions : 

1 Captain – M-F 8-5 

1 FF/EMT – THURSDAY -FRIDAY 8-5 

1 DRIVER OPERATOR – M-F 8-5 

1 FF/EMT – M-F 8-5 

*DEFINITIONS : FULL COST :  the full cost of temporary personnel includes rate of pay,
FICA taxes, Overtime, cost of benefits such as - PTO/PSL including the Workers
Compensation rate and potential liability for injuries for employees funded by Felton Fire
District.

*Payroll will be administered by the Zayante Fire Protection District.

*Felton Fire shall compensate Zayante Fire for the Services provided as allocated in the
proposed Staffing model plus a 7% of payroll administrative overhead charge to address
oversite, payroll processing and warrant charges by the County.

* There shall be no CALPERS liability or relationship established with the Zayante Fire
District. Any such relationship or associated impacts will terminate this agreement
immediatley.

*All Personnel will be subject to the Policy and Procedures of the Zayante Fire Protection
District.

*For Unemployment compensation purposes, those positions funded by Felton Fire
District shall be the financial responsibility of Felton Fire and charged 100% of costs of
benefits assigned to the individual by the EDD.

STIPLULATIONS : 

* Felton Fire agrees to maintain a response plan capable of providing initial response of
at least two trained personnel to all calls occurring outside of the M-F 8-5 period covered
by this agreement. Felton shall also appoint a Fire Chief of record. ITEM 12



* Felton Fire agrees to terminate its CalPERS contract without delay and deliver to
Zayante Fire the Felton Fire District approved Ordinance to exit the CALPERS System and
a program actuarial demonstrating their liabilities and plan to exit the System.

* Felton Fire agrees to aggressively pursue reorganization and/or supplemental funding
options with a target implementation date of July 1, 2026.

FRAMEWORK : 

The Staffing model proposed exceeds the available personnel capacity of the Zayante 
Fire Protection District and requires mutual effort to be successfull.  

This proposal infers that there are Felton personnel available, willing and reliable to work 
on the proposed schedule at the Zayante Fire Station or as directed.  

Approval of this proposal acknowledges that Felton Fire has zero full time employees. 

Supervision of personnel is the exclusive authority of the Zayante Fire Protection District. 

Personnel selection for all funded positions is the exclusive responsibility of the Zayante 
Fire Protection District.  

There is no Felton Fire District Chain of Command authority over operational personnel, 
their assignments, scheduling or grievances.  

Training of Day Shift personnel is the responsibility of Zayante Fire Protection District. 

Compensation for positions will adhear to Zayante Fire District Policy 4000. 

Felton personnel shall wear Felton Fire Uniform apparel.  

Felton Fire apparatus shall be available as necessary for operational response.  

Felton Fire apparatus shall receive weekly inspection and exercise.  

Apparatus  repair and operating expenses will be apportioned based use or by frequency 
of response percentages and billed to the Felton Fire District as applicable.  

Annual or routine maintenance of Felton Fire apparatus is the responsibility of Felton Fire 
District.  

This proposal is intended as a dynamic relationship that may require review and 
modification as necessary.  

Both Agencies agree to meet and confer during the 90  day review periods. 

If terms and conditions are acceptable a formal proposal can be drafted for review and 
approval by both Board of Directors.  

Respectfully and in Shared Interest, 

Jeff Maxwell, Fire Chief  

jmaxwell@zayantefire.com 

831-335-5100 ITEM 12




